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COM PLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER RELIEF

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (the (rornmission'') alleges:

1. INTRODUCTION

The Commission brings this action to enjoin Natural Diamonds lnvestment Co.

(tdNatural Diamonds''), Eagle Financial Diamond Group lnc, z1Va Diamante Atelier (1kEag1e''), and

Argyle Coin, LLC (CkArgyle Coin'') (collectively, the Cforporate Defendants'), and their owners

Jose Angel Aman (ûûAman'') Harold Seigel (ttH. Seigel'') and Jonathan H. Seigel (1ûJ. Seigel'')
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from continuing to defraud investors through the sale of securities in violation of the anti-fraud

and registration provisions of the federal securities laws.

From no later than M ay 2014, the Defendants have raised about $30 million from

approxim ately 300 investors through the sale of securities in the form of prom issory notes and

investment contracts in Argyle Coin, Natural Diam ond, and Eagle.

To lure investors, the Defendants have knowingly Or recklessly m aterially

m isrepresented how they would use investor funds and the safety of the investm ents.

Collectively, the Defendants have

million of the $30 million raised from investors in a manner contrary to the representations to

investors.

misused or misappropriated rnore than $ 10

From no later than May 2014 thzough at least December 201 8, Natural Diamonds,

Aman, and the Siegels engaged in the unregistered offering of securities in the form of investment

contracts in Natural Diamonds. They told prospective investors that Natural Diam onds would use

investor funds to acquire raw colored diamonds known as ûlfancy colored diam oncls,'' which they

would then cut, polish, and resell for profits that would result in investment returns of 24% and

the full return of investors' principal within two years.

6. ln reality, N atural Diamonds was a Ponzi schem e. Am an and Natural Diam onds

used investor funds to pay prior investors their purported returns.

W hen the well began to l'un dry in early 2015, Eagle, Aman, and the Seigels

comm enced a second unzegistered Offering, this tim e in the form of investment contracts in Eagle.

They made the same false representations about the use of. investors' funds, and fueled the Ponzi

schem e by using Eagle investors' funds to pay Natural Diam onds and Eagle investors their

purported investm ent returns.
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8. ln addition to operating a m u.'lti-layer Ponzi scheme, Am an, Natural Diamonds, and

Eagle used investors' funds to purchase horses and riding lessons for Am an's adult son, pay

Aman's church and pastors more than $1.5 million, pay H. Seigel and his company more than $3

million, and pay more than $3 million to Aman directly or for his other personal expenditures,

including shopping at Gucci and paying the rent on his home.

9. By late 20l 7, the Natural Diamonds and Eagle bank accounts lacked funds to

continue the Ponzi schem e. ln October 2017, Aman created Argyle Coin and the fiaud continued

through a third unregistered offering.

The Argyle Coin offering continues to this day.Aman and Argyle Coin represent

that Argyle Coin is offering the tirst investment in cryptocurrency backed by fancy colored

diamonds. To lure investors, they tell investors they will use investor funds to develop Argyle

Coin's cryptocurrency business and the investment is risk-free because investors' principal is

protected by valuable diamonds.

This is false. ln truth, Am an has been using Argyle Coin investor funds to continue

the Ponzi scheme by using Argyle Coin investor funds to pay Natural Diamonds and Eagle

investors their purported investment returns. As for the valuable diam onds that pum ortedly protect

investors' money, Argyle Coin has none.

Nonetheless, Aman has doubled down on his representations about the safety of the

Argyle Coin investment by telling investors that the investment is l 00% guaranteed by an

insurance bond. However, under the terms of the bond, investor funds are guaranteed only if

Argyle Coin develops a cryptocurrency. Aman has instead used investor funds prim arily to fuel

his three-tiered Ponzi scheme with Natural Diamonds and Eagle.
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The Natural Diam onds, Eagle, and Argyle Coin bank accounts received m ore than

$30 million from investors. As of March 31, 2019, these accounts had a combined negative

balance of about $120,000.

A s for the diam onds, Aman pawned dozens of them and pocketed the proceeds,

which totaled more than $750,000.

Through their conduct, Am an, Argyle Coin, Natural Diamonds, and Eagle have

violated the anti-fraud provisions of the federal securities laws, and a11 of the Defendants have

violated the registration provisions of the federal securities laws.

Based on the ongoing nature of Am an and Argyle Coin's violations and the scienter

Aman has dem onstrated through his willful and wanton disregard for the federal securities laws,

together with the egregious nature of Natural Diamonds, Eagle, and the Seigels violations, the

Defendants have shown they will continue to violate the law unless the Court grants the injunctive

and other relief the Comm ission seeks.

Il. DEFENDANTS AND RELIEF DEFENDANTS

A. Defendants

Natural Diam onds is an active Florida corporation that incorporated in August

2013, with a principal place of business in Palm Beach, Florida. N atural Diamonds is pum ortedly

in the business of buying and selling diam onds. Am an owns 45% , H. Seigel owns 45% , and J.

Seigel owns 10% of Natural Diam onds. Aman is its President, H. Seigel is its Vice President, and

J. Seigel is its Secretary. As of M arch 28, 2019, Natural Diam onds is under the control of a Court-

appointed monitor in the case Round v. NDIC, 18-cv-81151 (S.D. Fla.)(J. Middlebrooks). Neither

Natural Diamonds nor its securities have ever been registered with the Commission.
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l 8. Eagle is an active Florida corporation that Aman incorporated in April 201 l with a

principal place of business in Palm Beach, Florida. Eagle is purportedly in the business of buying

and selling diam onds for investment purposes. Eagle also m arkets itself using the name Diam ante

Atelier. According to Am an, Am an owns 45% , H. Seigel owns 45% , and J. Seigel owns l 0% of

Eagle. According to the Seigels, Aman owns 100% of Eagle, H. Seigel gets 45% of Eagle's

proceeds, and J. Seigel gets 10% of Eagle's proceeds. As of M arch 28, 2019, Eagle is under the

control of a Court-appointed monitor in the case Round v. NDIC, 18-cv-81 l51 (S.D. Fla.)(J.

Middlebrooks), which is the same monitor who has been appointed over Natural Diamonds. H.

Seigel is Eagle's President and Am an is Eagle's Vice President.N either Eagle nor its securities

have ever been registered with the Comm ission.

19. Argyle Coin is an active Florida lim ited liability company Aman formed in October

2017, with a principal place of business in Palm  Beach, Florida. Am an is Argyle's President and

sole officer. Neither Argyle Coin nor its securities have ever been registered with the Commission.

Aman was a resident of W ellington, Florida from no later than November 2010

until about August 201 8 and nOw resides in M iami, Florida. He is President of Natural Diamonds,

Vice President of Eagle, and President of Argyle Coin. He is a signatory on the Natural Diamonds,

Eagle, and Argyle Coin bank accounts.

Harold Seigel is a resident of W est Palm Beach, Florida. Together with his son, J.

Seigel, he owns half of Natural Diam onds and Eagle. H. Seigel is Vice President of N atural

Diam onds and President of Eagle. Beginning no later than 2010, he has hosted a weekly radio

show called it-f'he World Financial Report'' (sslkadio Show'') that has now become a weekly online

podcast by the sam e nam e, in which he touts investm ent opportunities.
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Jonathan Seigel resides in Parkland, Florida and owns 10% of N atural Diamonds

and Eagle. J. Seigel is the Secretary of Natural Diamonds.

B. Relief Defendants

H.S. Management Group LLC (û1H.S. Management'') is an active Florida limited

liability company H. Seigel form ed in February 2014, with a principal place of business in

Parkland, Florida. H. Seigel is its sole managing member. From M ay 2014 until D'ecem ber 201 8,

Eagle paid H.S. Management at least $3.8 million in ill-gotten gains. W ithout any legitimate basis,

H.S. M anagem ent received investor proceeds em anating from the Natural Diamonds, Eagle, and

Argyle Coin securities frauds.

Gold 7 of Miami, LLC (iûG7'') is an active Florida limited liability company fonued

in Febnlary 2010. lt is a pawn shop with its principal place of business is M iam i, Florida. G7

received, through consignm ent agreem ents Am an executed on his own behalf, approxim ately 40

diam onds that belong to Natural Diam onds and Eagle. W ithout any legitim ate basis, ()7 received

these diam onds, which Am an consigned in order to obtain personal loans. ()7 is still in possession

of these diamonds, which are the ill-gotten gains of the Natural Diam onds and Eagle securities

frauds.

W inners Church International lnc. of W est Palm Beach, Florida (ûiW inners

Church'') is an active Florida not-for-profit corporation incorporated in November l 985 with a

principal place of business in W est Palm Beach, Florida. Aman is a director of W inners Church,

Frederick D. Shipman (t1F. Shipman'') is its president, and Whitney Shipman (ûGW . Shipman'') is a

director. From M ay 2014 until December 2018, Eagle paid W inners Church at least $1 million in

ill-gotten gains. W ithout any legitimate basis, W inners Church received investor proceeds

emanating from the Natural Diamonds, Eagle, and Argyle Coin securities frauds.
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26. Frederick D. Shipman is the president of W inners Church. F. Shipm an is the father

of W . Shipman. From August 2014 until August 2018, Eagle paid F. Shipman at least $700,000

in ill-gotten gains. W ithout any legitimate basis, F. Shipman received investor proceeds emanating

from the Natural Diamonds, Eagle, and Argyle Coin securities frauds.

W hitney Shipman is a director of W inners Church. From January 2015 until April

2018, Eagle paid W . Shipman at least $40,$')00 in ill-gotten gains.W ithout any legitimate basis,

W . Shipm an received investor proceeds em anating from the N atural Diamonds, Eagle, and Argyle

Coin securities frauds.

111. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 20(b), 20(d), and

22(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (ûûsecurities Act''), 15 U.S.C. jj 77t(b), 77t(d), and 77v(a); and

Sections 21(d), 21(e), and Section 27 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 CkExchange Act''),

15 U.S.C. jj 78u(d), 78u(e), and 78aa.

This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants and Relief Defendants,

and venue is proper in the Southern District of Florida, because many of the Defendants' acts and

transactions constituting or resulting from violations of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act

occurred, and as to Aman and Argyle Coin continue to occur, in the Southern District of Florida.

Natural Diamonds, Eagle, and Argyle Coin all have their principal place of business in the

Southern District of Florida, and Aman and the Seigels reside in the Southern District of Florida.

The Relief Defendants are all located in the Southern District of Florida. The Corporate

Defendants' bank accounts are all located in the Southern District of Florida, and Aman is a

signatory on those accounts.
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ln connection with the condllct alleged in this Complaint, the Defendants, directly

and indirectly, singly or in concert with others, have m ade use of the means or instrum entalities of

interstate commerce, the m eans or instruments of transportation and com munication in interstate

comm erce, and the mails.

lV. THE NATURAL DIAM ONDS SECURITIES FR AUD

The Natural Diam onds Offerin:

From approxim ately M ay 2014 thzough at least December 201 8, Natural

Diam onds, Am an, and the Seigels offered and sold Natural Diam onds investment contracts to the

public.

The offering documents consisted of a Natural Diamonds lnvestor Agreement (the

isNatural Diamonds lnvestment Contract'') that H. Seigel or J. Seigel signed On behalf of Natural

Diamonds. gExhibit 11.No registration statement was filed with the Commission or in effect for

the Natural Diam onds offering.

33. The Natural Diam onds lnvestment Contract states that the investor is investing with

Natural Diam onds and that the investor's funds ûûshall be used at the sole discretion'' of Natural

Diamonds to purchase high grade diam onds.

The Natural Diam onds lnvestment Contract warrants that Natural Diam onds will

tiprocure the appropriate diamondts) for this specific investment'' within 30 days of receiving the

investor's funds.

Natural Diamonds would then purportedly cut, polish, and sell the diamonds for a

profit. According to the Natural Diamonds lnvestment Contract, in return for their investment,

investors would receive 2% simple interest per month for 24 months and at the end of the 24-

m onth period Natural Diam onds would pay investors a return of their principal.

8

Case 9:19-cv-80633-RLR   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 05/13/2019   Page 8 of 34



36. ln some instances, Natural lliam onds also provided investors with a tlN egotiable

Promissory Note'' which references the Natural Diamonds lnvestment Contract and which one of

the Seigels signed (the ûçpromissory Note''). gExhibit 21. The Promissory Note promises that

Natural Diamonds would pay investors a 2% m onthly interest and return investors' principal

investm ent am ount at the end of the 24-m 011th period.

37. lnvestors lacked expertise in diamonds and had no involvement in how N atural

Diam onds identified, selected, purchased, cut, polished, or sold the diam onds. lnvestors had no

discretion over how Natural Diamonds, Aman, and the Seigels would use their investment funds.

lnstead, they relied on Natural Diamonds, Am an, and the Seigels to make a1l decisions that would

affect the profitability of the Natural Diamonds investm ent.

38. Investors contributed to the Natural Diam onds offering by sending investment

funds to Natural Diam onds or its law finn via wire transfer or check.

39. From August 2016 until Decem ber 2018, Natural Diam onds raised at least

$1,798,000 from about 133 investors, including unaccredited investors, located throughout the

United States and Canada.

B. Solicitation of Natural Diam onds lnvestors

40. From no later than M ay 2014 until at least Decem ber 20 1 8, Natural Diamonds and

the Seigels solicited investors in the Natural Diam onds offering.

H. Seigel solicited investors thzough one-on-one conversations in at least 2015 and

through his Radio Show from at least February through April 2017. From no later than Novem ber

2015 until at least Novem ber 2017, J. Seigel solicited investors verbally through telephone calls

and conversations, and occasionally via email messages.
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FOr example, on at least February 24, 20 1 7, M arch 1 0, 2017, and April 13, 201 7,

H. Seigel solicited prospective investors in the United States and Canada through his Radio Show .

ln the February 24, 2017 episode, H. Seigel touted Natural Diamonds as an investment opportunity

ûtwhich pays 24% per a year in return o1z investment.'' Sim ilarly, on M arch 10, 20l 7, H. Seigel

again touted Natural Diam onds as an investluent offering a 24% a year investment return, and on

April 13, 2017, H. Seigel told his listeners that Natural Diam ond investors were receiving a 25%

investm ent return each year.

43. After prospective investors heard the Radio Show, they contacted H. Seigel to get

more information and he put them in contact with J. Seigel. J. Seigel then provided prospective

investors with more inform ation about the Natural Diamonds offering and closed the deal.

44. FOz exam ple, during the first half of 201 7, after learning about Natural Diamcmds

and the investment returns from H. Seigel through the Radio Show, a veterinarian with initials

A.C. from Lloyd Harbor, New York (the ttveterinarian'') spoke with J. Seigel. J. Seigel told the

Veterinarian that Natural Diam onds offered investors a 2% monthly investment retlzrn for a period

of 24 months, and would return the Veterinarian's principal investm ent amount to him at the end

of the 24-month period.

45. During this conversation, J. Seigel continued the solicitation effort H. Seigel began.

J. Seigel told the Veterinarian, who lacked expertise in diam onds, that Natural Diamonds would

use investor funds to buy and sel.l diam onds. J.Seigel also assured the Veterinarian that the

investm ent would be safe and secure, and that it would be guaranteed by diamonds worth 10 tim es

the amount the Veterinarian invested. At no time did J. Seigel disclose any risks associated with

the investment. Nor did J. Seigel disclose to the Veterinarian that investor funds would be used to
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pay com missions or fees, or that it would be used to pay other investors their purported investm ent

returns.

Based on what J. Seigel represented to the Veterinarian, he decided to invest. On

June 7, 2017, the Veterinarian invested $.50,000 in Natural Diamonds. ln exchange for the

investm ent, J. Seigel executed a Natural fliamonds lnvestm ent Contract with the Veterinarian

dated June 7, 2017 as well as a Promissory Note dated June 9, 2017. These documents promised

the Veterinarian that Natural Diam onds would pay him the prom ised investment returns of 2%

each month for 24 months (or until June 20 1 9), at which time it would pay him an amount equal

to his investment principal.

47. Natural Diam onds failed to m ake a1l of the promised paym ents to the Veterinarian.

ln Novem ber or December 2018, Natural Diamonds stopped sending the Veterinarian his monthly

investm ent retum s. H. Seigel contacted the Veterinarian to assure him that Natural Diamonds

would return his investment principal. However, this never happened.

48. J. Seigel also solicited investors directly and then put them in contact with H. Seigel

to secure the investm ent. For example, in late 2015, J. Seigel approached a tour bus driver with

the initials R.B. who resides in Montana and Alberta, Canada (the ttBus Driver''). J. Seigel told

the Bus Driver that Natural Diamonds was in the business of locating and purchasing diamond

parcels to cut and resell for a protit. J. Seigel told the Bus Driver that Natural Diam onds used

investor funds to buy the diamonds, and then paid investors returns from N atural Diam onds' profits

after selling the diamonds.

49. During this conversation with the Bus Driver, J. Seigel touted the safety and

security of investing in Natural Diam onds, assuring him that the investment was backed by
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valuable diamonds. He also encouraged the Bus Driver to speak with H. Seigel about the

investment.

50. J. Seigel also em ailed the Bus Driver on Novem ber 10, 2015, telling the Bus Driver

that he was one of the ttlucky few'' who clluld see the diamonds and attaching photos of them ,

which J. Seigel wrote were tûtwo of the rarest rough colored diamond parcels around today.''

Later in November 2015, J. Seigel sent the Bus Driver a docum ent J. Seigel signed

entitled tûN .D.I.C. Secured lnvestments,'' wlkich stated it was for the purpose of advising ûtpotential

and cun-ent investors.'' In this document, J. Seigel represented that:

L'Natural Diamonds'l is properly and adequately funded and able to secure every investors
investment. For every dollar raised l atural Diamondsl matches that amount with hard
assets and safeguards them inside a trust account safety deposit box at a local bank.

F atural Diamondsj is consistently buying and selling diamonds, in order to grow and
provide promised returns to its investors.

lf it were ever required, for any unforeseeable reason, l atural Diamondsl promises to sell
the above-mentioned diamondts) and use the proceeds towards paying back the principal
investm ent to each investor. Although the founders of this Company know that investing

in diamonds is a relatively 1ow risk venture, it has taken proper m easures to ensure the

integrity of the investm ents by our valued customers.

ln about Novem ber 2015, shortly after J. Seigel encouraged the Bus Driver to speak

with H. Seigel, H. Seigel told the Bus briver that Natural Diamonds would pay him 2% monthly

returns and would return his principal to him after 24 months.

Neither J. Seigel nor H . Seigel ever disclosed any risks associated with investing in

Natural Diam onds or any fees Or commissions paid from investor funds. Nor did they tell the Bus

Driver that Natural Diamonds would use his investor funds to pay investors their purported retulms

or for anything other than buying, cutting, and polishing diamonds. Instead, the Seigels both

assured the Bus Driver that Natural Diam onds had diam onds to secure the investm ent and that his

investment would never be at risk.
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Based on what the Seigels represented to him , on Decem ber 7, 20 l 5, the Bus Driver

invested $25,000 in Natural Diamonds by sending a wire transfer to the trust account for the lawyer

of Natural Diamond (the ûtlwaw Firm''). The Law Firm, at the direction of J. Seigel, sent the Bus

Driver a Natural Diam onds lnvestm ent Contract dated Decem ber 7, 2015 and signed by J. Seigel

on behalf of Natural Diamonds.

Natural Diamonds then sent the Bus Driver a Prom issory Note dated Decem ber 9,

2015, and signed by J. Seigel.

56. In both the Natural Diamonds lnvestment Contract and Promissory Note, Natural

Diam onds warranted that it would pay the Bus Driver a 2% investment return each month for 24

months and would pay him his $25,000 investment principal at the end of the 24-month period.

ln Decem ber 2017, the Bus Driver contacted J. Seigel and asked Natural Diamond

to return his principal.J. Seigel, and then Am an, both respcmded to the Bus Driver's inquiry by

promising that Natural Diamonds would make the $25,000 payment to him. However, despite

num erous inquiries, Natural Diamonds has never m ade this paym ent.

58. J. Seigel also solicited Eagle investors to invest in Natural Diamonds.

For example, in 2015, H. Seigel and J. Seigel had successfully solicited an

investment in Eagle from an individual whose initials are B.B. and who resides in Alberta, Canada,

where he works in the insurance industry (the lûlnsurance Worker''). ln Spring 201 7, when Eagle

was supposed to return the lnsurance W orker's investm ent principal, the lnsurance W orker called

J. Seigel, who offered the lnsurance W orker an investment in Natural Diam onds.

During this telephone call, J. Seigel told the lnsurance W orker that Natural

Diamonds would use investor funds to acquire, cut, polish, and resell diamonds, and that Natural

Diamonds would pay him a 2% monthly investment return for a period of 24 m onths, and would

13
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return his principal investm ent amount to him at the end of the 24-m onth period. At no time did

J. Seigel disclose any risks associated with the investm ent. Nor did J. Seigel disclose to the

Insurance W orker that investor funds would be used to pay comm issions or fees, or that it would

be used to pay other investors their purported investment returns.

Based on what J. Seigel represented to the Insurance W orker during the Spring

telephone call, the lnsurance W orker invested $ 10,000 in Natural Diamonds on April 27, 201 7 by

sending a wire transfer to Natural Diamond's bank account.

62. ln exchange, Natural Diam onds provided the lnsurance W orker with a Prom issory

Note signed by H. Seigel and dated April 27, 2017 that prom ised investment returns for 24 m onths

(or until May 2019).Natural Diamonds stopped paying the lnsurance Worker his investment

retunzs in early 2019 and failed to return his principal investment amount.

C. Fraudulent Conduct in the Natural Diam onds O fferina

63. In connection with the Natural Diamonds offering, N atural Diamonds and Am an

engaged in fraudulent conduct.

As an officer and owner of N atural Diamonds, as well as a signatory on Natural

Diam onds bank accounts, Aman knew, Or was reckless in not knowing, the representations m ade

to investors about the offering and falsity of the representations.

65. Contrary to the representations to investors in the Natural Diam onds lnvestment

Contract and Prom issory Note that Natural Diam onds would use investor funds to purchase, cut,

polish, and resell diamonds for profits, Aman and Natural Diamonds siphoned investor funds to

Eagle and Argyle Coin and used investor funds to pay investors their purported investment retulms.

66. From no later than October 4, 2016 until at least December 24, 2018, N atural

Diamonds transferred Natural Diamonds investor funds to Eagle. From no later than M arch 5,
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2018 until at least December 21, 20 1 8, Natural Diam onds transferred investor flmds to Argyle

67. From May 20l 7 until Deceluber 2018, Aman received more than $75,000 from

Natural Diamonds.

68. Natural Diamonds sent F. Shipman $5,000 on April 10, 2018, and W inners Church

$1,000 on December 18, 2018, for no legitimate reason.

From no later than August 2016 until Decem ber 201 8, Natural Diamonds used

Natural Diamonds investors' funds, together with m oney from Eagle and Argyle Coin, to transfer

via wire or check about $2,930,000 to 128 Natural Diamonds investors as the purported interest

paym ents on their investm ents.

70. For exam ple,

investment to Natural Diamonds. Prior to tllis investment deposit, this Natural Diamonds account

on August 26, 2016, an individual investor wired his $49,990

had a balance of $500. Between August 30, 2016 and September 6, 2016, Natural Diamonds wired

about $34,000 of the $49,990 of investor funds to 22 Natural Diamonds investors and noted on the

wire transfers that these were for an tcinterest payment.''

As another example, on September 23, 2016 an individual invested $249,980 in

Natural Diamonds via wire transfer to the NaturalDiamonds' bank account. Prior to this

investment, this Natural Diamonds account had a balance of $9,560.97.Between October 3, 2016

and October l3, 2016, Natural Diamonds wired about $51,000 of the $249,980 of investor funds

to 25 Natural Diam onds investors and noted on the wire transfers that these were for ttoctober

lnterest-''

15
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Between October 3, 2016 and October 13, 2016, Natural Diamonds sent $ 106,000

of the Septem ber 23, 2016 investm ent funds to 62 Natural Diam onds investors and noted on the

wire transfers that these were for lûoctober lnterest, NDIC M onthly lnterest.''

As of February 28, 20 19, the Natural Diamonds bank accounts had negative

balances of about $120,000.

1V. THE EAGLE SECURITIES FR AUD

A. The Eaele Offerin:

74. From approximately M arch 2015 through at least Decem ber 2018, Eagle, Am an,

and the Seigels offered and sold Eagle investment contracts to the public. No registration statem ent

was filed with the Comm ission or in effect for the Eagles offering.

The offering documents consisted of an Eagle dicontract for lnvestment'' (the

ûtEagle Investment Contract'') that H. Seigel signed on behalf of Eagle.

76. The Eagle lnvestm ent Contract provides that the investor enters into a one-tim e

partnership with Eagle in which Eagle will cut, polish and sell a diamond parcel for a profit.

Specifically, it states'.

g'l-jhe investment shall take place over an eighteen (18) month period whereby Eagle will
cut, polish, and grade said Rough Diam ond Parcel. Eagle requires a certain amount of time

(reselwed to the discretion of Eagle) to sell said parcel at profit and by way of this Contract
warrants a 100% return to ginvestorl on said investment in addition to return of the initial
principal. Afore said gsicl 100% return and initial principal shall be returned to lnvestor
eighteen (18) months after execution of this agreement or as otherwise agreed by both
parties by amendment to this agreement. gExhibit 31.

Eagle selected the diam onds to purchase and Am an had speeialized education and

training in inspecting and cutting diamonds.

78. Eagle investors lacked expel-tise in diamonds and had no involvement in how Eagle

identified, selected, purchased, cut, polished, or sold the diam onds. Investors had no discretion
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over how Eagle, Am an, and the Seigels wolzld use their investment funds. lnstead, they relied on

Eagle, Am an, and the Seigels to make a1l decisions that would affect the profitability of the Eagle

investm ent.

Investors contributed to the lilagle offering by sending investment funds to Eagle or

its law firm via wire transfer or check.

80. From M arch 2015 until December 2018, Eagle raised at least $25.6 million from

276 investors, including unaccredited investors, located throughout the United States and Canada.

B. Solicitation of Eazle lnvestors

Eagle and J. Seigel solicited investors by representing that Eagle would double

investors' m oney in 18 or 24 m onths.

82. From  at least November 20 15 until at least April or M ay 20 17, J. Seigel solicited

potential investors via telephone.

83. For example, in about M ay 2015, the Insurance W orker began listening to the Radio

Show, where H. Seigel touted investm ents backed by rare colored diamonds and provided listeners

with his telephone number.The lnsurance W orker called H . Seigel, who then put him in contact

with J. Seigel to discuss the Eagle investm ent opportunity.

84. ln the second half of 2015, J. Seigel told the lnsurance W orker that Eagle was in

the business of locating and purchasing diam ond parcels to cut and resell for a profit, and that

Eagle used investor funds tb buy and sell diam onds. J. Seigel told the lnsurance W orker that Eagle

paid investors from the proceeds of the diamond sales, and that Eagle would double his m oney and

pay him a 100% return on his principal in l 8 months.

85. J. Seigel lured the Insurance W orker by touting his family's expertise and tim e in

the diamond business, and said that investment funds would be safe and secure because valuable
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diam onds backed the Eagle investment opportunity. J. Seigel did not disclose any risks associated

with the investm ent or that investor funds would be used to pay other investors their purported

investment returns.

86. J. Seigel emailed the lnsurance W orker an Eagle lnvestm ent Contract. On about

Novem ber 9, 2015, the lnsurance W orker invested in Eagle by executing the lnvestment Contract

and wiring $25,000 to Eagle.

87. ln April or M ay 20l 7, J. Seigel solicited the lnsurance W orker to make a second

investm ent in Eagle. J. Seigel em ailed the lnsurance W orker a second Eagle lnvestment Contract

and reassured him that Eagle would double his money again in 18 months. Based on these

representations, the lnsurance W orker made a second investment for $25,000 in April or M ay

88. As another example, on about June 7, 201 7, J. Seigel told the Vderinarian that

Eagle was in the diamond business and guaranteed investor funds with rare colored diamonds. J.

Seigel told the Veterinarian that Eagle would use investor funds to buy colored diamonds,

including rough parcels, and cut them into smaller pieces for resale.J. Seigel represented to the

Veterinarian that he would double his m oney in 18 to 24 m onths.

89. During this conversation, J. Seigel told the Veterinarian that investing with Eagle

was safe and secure, and that Eagle secured the investments with diamonds. He never disclosed

any risks associated with the investm ent or that Eagle would use investor funds t() pay investors

purported investment returns.

90. Based on J. Seigel's represelztations, the Veterinarian invested $50,000 with Eagle

on June 7, 2017. ln exchange, Eagle provided the Veterinarian with an Eagle lnvestment Contract

that H. Seigel signed.
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C. Fraudulent Conduct in the Eaale Offerin:

91 . ln connection with the Eagle offering, Eagle and Aman engagetl in fraudulent

conduct.

As an officer and owner of E'agle, as well as a signatory on Eagle's bank accounts,

Am an knew, or was reckless in not knowing, the representations m ade to investors about the

offering and falsity of the representations.

93. Contrary to the representations to investors that Eagle would use investor funds to

purchase, cut, polish, and resell diamonds for protits, Am an and Eagle used investor funds to pay

investors their purported investment returns. They also siphoned investor funds to Natural

Diamonds to pay investors their purported returns, and used investor funds to m ake expenditures

that served no legitim ate business purpose.Natural Diamond investors' funds were comm ingled

with Eagle investor funds and Argyle Coin investor funds.

94. As an example of how the Ponzi scheme in Eagle operated, on M ay 29, 2018 an

individual investor contributed $ l 70,000 to Eagle. Prior to this investment, this Eagle barlk

On M ay 31, 2018, Eagle used $25,000 of theaccount had a negative balance, of -$24,976.32.

$170,000 in investor funds to pay an investor.

95. Between May 30, 201 8 and M ay 31, 2018, Eagle wired about $57,512 of the M ay

29th investor's funds into another bank account Eagle held. Prior to the receipt of this wire transfer,

this second Eagle bank account had a negative balance of $46,370.30. After the incoming transfer

of $57,512 in investor funds, the second Eagle bank account had a balance of about $20,817. lt

then transferred about $7,500 Aman's ex-wife on M ay 31, 2018.

96. As another example, on April 16, 20l 8 an individual investor contributed $218,000

to Eagle via wire transfer (with the notation Sûinvestment-diamonds''). Prior to this investment,
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Eagle's bank account had a negative balance. of -$52,980.57. On April 17, 2018 Eagle transferred

$25,000 of the April 16th investor's funds to another Eagle investor.

97. Eagle also transferred Eagle iïnvestors' funds to Natural Diam onds so they could be

used to pay Natural Diamonds investors their purported investm ent returns.

For example, on April18, 2018, Eagle transferred $50,000 of Eagle investors'

funds to a Natural Diamonds bank account. Prior to the receipt of these funtls, the Natural

Diamonds bank account had a balance of $17,825.87. After receiving the $50,000 transferrNatural

Diamond paid approximately $53,000 in interest payments to four individual investors. W ithout

the $50,000 of Eagle investor funds, Natural Diamonds would not have had adequate funds in its

account to m ake these interest paym ents.

Eagle comm ingled investors' funds with the Natural Diam onds bank accounts from

no later than July 21, 2017 until at least June 22, 2018, and with the Argyle Coin bartk accounts

from no later than M ay 3 1 , 2018 until at least February 22, 2019.

Additionally, from M ay 2016 until December 2018, Eagle spent $453,485, which

included some investors' funds, to purchase horses and horse riding lessons for Aman's adult son.

10l . Between August 21, 2014 and August 16, 2018, Eagle gave about $747,125,

including investor funds, to F. Shipman, without any legitim ate purpose.

102. Between M ay 2014 and December 2018, Eagle gave about $1,038,992, which

included investor funds, to the W inners Church. There was no legitimate business purpose for this

transfer of funds. For example, on July 18, 2016, Am an signed a check from the Eagle barlk

account payable to W inners Church for $69,500, with the notation SûDonation.'' On August l7,

2016, Aman signed a check from the Eagle bank account payable to W inners Church for $30,000

with the notation CdMy Kids.'' Similarly, on October 2, 2016, Aman signed a check from the Eagle
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bank account payable to W inners Church for $50,000 with the notation ûts'ly Kids.'' Some of the

other checks Aman sent W inners Church from the Eagle Account included a notation for tttithing''

and one included the notation that it was fol' a Cttrip to lsrael.''

During this same time period, Eagle gave $3,806,66 1 , which included investor

funds, to H.S. M anagem ent Group.

104. From June 2014 until February 2019, Aman took more than $1.5 million, which

included investors' funds, from Eagle. Dllring this same timeframe, he also took at least $1.9

million of Eagle funds, including investors' funds, to pay for his child's tutoring sessions, to shop

at Gucci, pay his rent, and m ake his divorce settlem ent payments to his ex-wife.

As of February 28, 20l 9, the Eagle bank accounts had a com bined balance of

$155.26.

V. THE ARGYLE COIN FRAUD

A . The Arevle Coin Offerin:

From approxim ately December 2017 through present, Argyle Coin, Am an, and the

Seigels have offered and sold investm ents in a supposed cryptocurrency token called EûRGL''

(tûRGL Tokens'') that is purportedly backed by fancy colored diamonds.

was filed with the Com mission or in effect for the Argyle Coin offering.

No registration statem ent

Argyle Coin is distributing a ûûW hite Paper'' gExhibit 41 through its website that

describes its plalmed business m odel and provides the following dates for its initial coin offering

(ûGlCO'')-

(l) initial pre-sale offering from December 2017 through August 26, 20l 8;
(2) pre-lco August 27, 20l 8 tluough October 16, 20l 8; and
(3) crowd-funding (lCO) October 17, 2018 through November 27, 201 8.
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Argyle Coin investors recei'd/e a contract docum enting their investm ent in RGL

Tokens (the ûçArgyle Coin Contract'') that is signed by Aman (Exhibit 5j.

l 09. The Argyle Coin Contract provides, am ong other things, that the ûlinvestor'' is

ûûinvesting'' in the ûtAzgyle Coin Project,'' which is comprised of the launch and subsequent

administratiolz of the cl-yptocurrency RGL Trbkens. lt also provides that the investor will receive

an 8% return on the principal amount invested after a lz-m onth period and an additional 2% retunz

at the end of a 24-month period if the investor elects to extend the investment for an additional 12

months.

1 l 0. lnvestors lacked expertise in diamonds and had no involvem ent in how Argyle Coin

operated, the development of cryptocurrenclhr, or any business decisions whatsoever'. lnstead, they

relied on Argyle Coin and Aman to make all decisions that would affect the profitability of the

Argyle Coin investment.

1 1 1. lnvestors sent their investment funds to a bank account in the nam e of Argyle Coin

via wire transfer or check.

1 12. From January 2018 through M arch 3 1 , 2019, Argyle Coin raised approximately

$2,670,000 from 59 investors, including unaccredited investors, through the sale of RGL Tokens.

B. Solicitation of Ara le Coin Investors

1 13. From at least as early as October 20l 8 until present, Argyle Coin has marketed the

RGL Tokens to investors through the W hite Paper and its website, https://w ww.argylecoin.io

gExhibit 5j.

Beginning no later than October 201 7, Aman and J. Seigel have also solicited

investors directly. For example, in M ay 2018, J. Seigel contacted an Eagle investor with the initials

M.U. who works in oi1 field construction in Alberta, Canada (the tûoil Field Worker'). J. Seigel
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told him that Argyle Coin was offering a cryptocurrency token and would use investor funds to

buy and sell diamonds and to build a virtual platform where diam onds could be bought and sold

online.

l l 5. J. Seigel told the Oil Field W orker that the Argyle Coin investm ent was safe and

secured by $25 million in dialuonds that Argyle Coin stores in a vault.J. Seigel also told him that

the investm ent was guaranteed by an insurance bond. At no time did J. Seigel disclose any risks

associated with the investm ent or that investor funds would be used to pay investors purported

investm ent returns.

1 l 6. J. Seigel told the Old Field W orker that Argyle Coin would pay investment returns

of 8% after one year, and an additional 2% return for a two-year investm ent. J. Seigel told him

that he would have access to his investm ent funds in the form of ttArgyle Coins'' thzough a digital

wallet available on Argyle Coin's website.

1 l7. Based on J. Seigel's representations, the Oil Field W orker invested $10,000 by

wiring funds to Argyle Coin's bank account on about M ay 24, 2018. On that same day, the Oi1

Field Worker signed an Argyle Coin Contract and retunzed it to Argyle Coin via email.

Am an also solicited investors. For example, in October 2017, Aman solicited a

professional football player who resides in Wellington, Florida (the iûFootball Player''). Aman told

the Football Player that Argyle was a cryptocurrency business that was unique because it was

backed by fancy colored diamonds. Aman emphasized the safety and security of the investm ent,

and told the Football Player there was no risk to this investment because it was backed by the

diamonds and guaranteed by an insurance bond.

119. Aman told the Football Player that Argyle Coin would use investor ftlnds to develop

the business, and that he would receive a retul.n on his investment within one year of investing.
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Am an did nOt disclose any risks associated with the investment or that investor funds would be

used to pay investors their purported investlnent returns.

120. Based on Aman's representations, the Football Player invested by wiring $500,000

to the Eagle bank account on about October 23, 2017, and executed an Argyle Coin Contract.

Argyle Coin has not paid the Football Player any investment return. Nor has it

given him access to his supposed digital wallet of Argyle Coins.

122. Argyle Coin also solicits investors through its website, which publishes the W hite

Paper. ln the W hite Paper, Argyle Coin states the Pre-1CO beginning in August 2018 would launch

for 3,462,000 coin units at $10 per unit (seeking to raise a total of $34,620,000).

ln the W hite Paper, Argyle C--oin states it will create its own Coin Exchange tûthat

will be an industry leader by interfacing with other Blockchains such as Bitcoin, Ethereum , &

Litecoin,'' and claim s to be the only cryptocurrency that will make it possible for individuals to

trade diamonds on a virtual platform using Stsm art contracts.''

124. Argyle Coin also claim s in the W hite Paper that it is the only cryptocurrency backed

by $25 million of fancy colored diamonds, which have been purchased by Argyle Coin's

principals.

125.

during the 1CO to purchase additional diam lnnds.

Argyle Coin represents in the W hite Paper that it will use 60% of the funds raised

Argyle Coin also represents in the White Paper that revenues will come from (1)

issuance and maturity of the currency; (2) nmnaging a coin exchange; and (3) facilitating funding

pools for the purchase of high-worth rare stones.
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The W hite Paper also includes statem ents by Argyle Coin that it plans to obtain a

ûûguarantee bond'' that is intended to return investor funds in the event that Argyle Coin fails to

develop a working platform and the RGL Tokens are not delivered.

C. M isrepresentations and (lm issions in the Ara le Coin Offering

128. ln connection with the Argyle Coin offering, Aman and Argyle Coin knowingly or

recklessly made material misrepresentations and om issions about the use of investor funds and the

safety of the investment.

129. Contrary to the representations to investors that Argyle Coin would use investor

funds to develop the cryptocurrency, Am an and Argyle Coin used investor funds t() pay investors

their purported investment returns. They also siphoned off at least $1.6 million of Argyle Coin

investor funds and transferred them to Natural Diamonds and Eagle in order to pay investors their

purported retunzs.

For example, On June 8, 201 8, an investor deposited $1 70,000 into Argyle Coin's

bank account via wire transfer. Before receiving these investor funds, the Argyle Coin bank

account had a balance of $3,480. Upon receipt of the investor funds on June 8, Argyle Coin

transferred $ 123,000 to Natural Diamonds' bank account that same day. Prior to the receipt of

these funds, the Natural Diamonds bank account had a balance of $509.80.Upon receipt of these

funds on June 8, Natural Diamonds sent two wire transfers, totaling $70,000, to Eagle's bank

account. Prior to the receipt of these funds, Eagle's barlk account had a balance of $4,184.58.

After receiving these funds on June 8, 201 8, Eagle sent two wire transfers to investors totaling

$70,500 that same day.

On June 1 1, 2018 (without having received any other funds since the $ 1 70,000

deposit on June 8), Argyle Coin transferred an additional $30,000 to Natural Diamonds, which
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then immediately transferred $5,000 of these funds to Eagle, $27,500 to H.S. Management, and

$10,000 back to Argyle Coin.

Aman also used Argyle Coin investor funds to cover negative balances in the

Natural Diamonds and Eagle bank accounts. For example, on M arch 8, 201 8 an individual investor

eontributed $149,980 to Argyle Coin. Prior to this investment, the Argyle Coin bank account

balance was $32,771.10.After receiving the $149,980 transfer on M arch 8, Argyle Coin made

two wire transfers totaling $133,000 to Natural Diamonds on that same day. W hen Natural

Diamonds received the $133,000 transfer from Argyle Coin on M arch 8, 201 8, the Natural

Diamonds bank account had an existing negative balance, of -$104,286.13. After receiving the

Argyle Coin investor funds, Natural Diam olkds sent two investors funds and notated the payments

as Ctmonthly interest-''

133. Argyle Coin gave Aman about $268,000. Also, from August 20, 2018 until

December 18, 20l 8, Argyle Coin gave $42,500 to F. Shipman.From November 13, 20 l 8 until

December 4, 20l 8, Argyle Coin gave $55,000 to W inners Church. There was no legitimate reason

for these paym ents.

134. Argyle Coin comm ingled investors' funds with Natural Diam onds from no later

than M ay 1 7, 20l 8 until at least Febnlary 1 l , 2019, and com mingled investors' funds with Eagle

from no later than M ay 3 1, 2018 until at least February 22, 2019.

l 35. Additionally, contrary to Aman and Argyle Coin's representations to investors that

Argyle Coin investm ents are backed by valuable diamonds, Argyle Coin does not own any

diamonds.

Further, contrary to Am an and Argyle Coin's representations to investors that

investments were guaranteed by an insurance bond, the tenns of the bond required Argyle Coin to
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develop a cryptocurrency in order for the bond to provide coverage.As a signatory on the Argyle

Coin, N atural Diamonds, and Eagle bank accounts, Am an knew he was not using investor funds

to develop cryptocurrency but was instead using them to pay other investors in Natural Diam onds

and Eagle, replenish Natural Diamonds and Eagle's negative barlk account balances, and pay for

personal expenditures. Thus he knew or was reckless for not knowing that the bond would not

provide a guarantee for investor money.

137. As of February 28, 2019, the Argyle Coin bank account held a total of $376.53.

COUNT I

Fraud in Violation of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5(a) of the Exchanue Act
Against Natural Diam onds, Eagle, Argyle Coin, and Aman

138. The S.E.C. repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 137 of this Complaint.

139. Aman, beginning no later than M ay 2014 and continuing through present, Natural

Diamonds, beginning no later than M ay 20 l 4 until at least December 20l 8, Eagle, beginning no

later than M arch 2015 until Decem ber 2018, and Argyle Coin beginning no later than October

2017 through present, directly or indirectly, by use of the m eans and instrum entalities of interstate

com merce, or of the m ails, in connection with the purchase or sale of securities, knowingly or

recklessly, employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud in connection with the purchase or

sale of securities.

140. By reason of the foregoing, Am an, Natural Diamonds, Eagle, and Argyle Coin,

directly or indirectly violated, and, unless enjoined, are reasonably likely to continue to violate,

Section l0(b) of the Exchange Act gl 5 U.S.C. j 78j(b)1 and Exchange Act Rule 10b-5(a) g17

C.F.R. j 240.10b-5(a)j.
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('-A-OUNT 11

Fraud in Violation of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5(b) of the Exchanee Act
Against Am an

The Com mission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 137 of this Complaint.

Aman, beginning no later than October 2017, directly or indirectly, by use of the

means or instrumentalities of interstate commeree, or of the mails, in connedion with the purchase

or sale of securities, has knowingly or recklessly m ade untnze statements of material facts or

om itted to state m aterial facts in order to make the statements m ade, in the light of the

circum stances in which they were m ade, not m isleading.

By reason of the foregoing,Aman directly or indirectly violated, and, unless

enjoined, is reasonably likely to eontinue to violate, Seetion 10(b) of the Exehange Xct g15 U.S.C.

j 78j(b)) and Exchange Act Rule 10b-5(b) ( 17 C.F.R. j 240.10b-5(b)1.

f ',OUNT 1lI

Fraud in Violation of Section 10('b) and Rule 10b-5(c) of the Exchance Act
Against N atural Diam onds, Eagle, Argyle Coin, and Aman

The Com mission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 137 of this Complaint.

145. Aman, beginning no later than M ay 20 14 and continuing through pèresent, Natural

Diam onds, beginning no later than M ay 20 l 4 until at least Decem ber 2018, Eagle, beginning no

later than M arch 2015 until Decem ber 20l 8, and Argyle Coin, beginning no later than October

2017 through present, directly or indirectly, by use of the m eans or instrumentalities of interstate

com merce, or of the mails, in cozmection with the purchase or sale of securities, knowingly or

recklessly engaged in acts, practices, and courses of business which have operated, are now

operating, and will operate as a fraud upon the purchasers of such securities.

By reason of the foregoing, Am an, Natural Diamonds, Eagle, and Argyle Coin,

directly or indirectly violated, and, unless enjoined, are reasonably likely to continue to violate,
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Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C.

C.F.R. j 240.10b-5(c)1.

j 78j(b)) and Exchange Act Rule 1 0b-5(c) gl 7

fNOUNT IV:>

Fraud in the Offer or Sale of Securities in

Violation of Sectionk 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act
Against Natural Diam onds, Eagle, Argyle Coin, and Aman

147. The Comm ission repeats ané realleges paragraphs 1 tlzrough l37 of this Complaint.

148. Aman, beginning no later than M ay 2014. and continuing through present, Natural

Diam onds, beginning no later than M ay 2014 until at least Decem ber 2018, Eagle, beginning no

later than M arch 2015 until December 2018, and Argyle Coin, beginning no later than October

2017 through present, directly or indirectly, in the offer or sale of securities, by the use of m eans

or instruments of transportation or com munication in interstate com merce or of the mails have

knowingly or recklessly em ployed devices, schem es or artifices to defraud.

By reason of the foregoing, Aman, Natural Diamonds, Eagle, and Argyle Coin,

directly or indirectly violated, and, unless enjoined, are reasonably likely to continue to violate,

Section l 7(a)(1) of the Securities Act (15 U .S.C. j 77q(a)(1)1.

COUNT V

Fraud in the O ffer or Sale of Securities in

Violation of Section 17(a)(2) of the Securitics Act
Against Aman

l 50. The Comm ission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 137 of lhis Complaint.

151. Aman, begilming no later than October 2017, directly or indirectly, in the offer or

sale of securities, by the use of means or instrum ents of transportation or cornmunication in

interstate com merce or of the m ails has negligently obtained money or property by means of untrue
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statem ents of m aterial facts and omissions to state m aterial facts necessary in order to make the

statem ents made, in the light of the circum stances under which they were m ade, not m isleading.

By reason of the foregoing, Aman, directly or indirectly violated, and, unless

enjoined, is reasonably likely to continue to violate, Section 17(a)(2) of the Securities Act g15

U.S.C. j 77q(a)(2)j.

IMOUNT Vl:>

Fraud in the Offer or Sale of Securities in

Violation of Sectiom! 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act
Against Natural Diam onds, Eagle, Argyle Coin, and Am an

The Comm ission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through l 37 of this Complaint.

154. Aman, beginning no later than M ay 2014 and continuing through present, Natural

Diamonds, beginning no later than M ay 20 14 until at least December 2018, Eagle, beginning no

later than M arch 2015 until December 201 8, and Argyle Coin, beginning no later than October

2017 tllrough present, directly or indirectly', in the offer or sale of securities, by the use of m eans

or instruments of transportation or commtmication in interstate comm erce or of the m ails have

negligently engaged in transactions, practices, or courses of business which operated or would

have operated as a fraud or deceit upon the purchasers.

155. By reason of the foregoing, Natural Diamonds, Eagle, Argyle Coin, and Am an,

directly or indirectly violated, and, unless enjoined, are reasonably likely to continue to violate,

Section l 7(a)(3) of the Securities Act L15 U.S.C. j 77q(a)(3)1.
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COUNT VlI

Sale of Unregistered Securities in Violation of

Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act
Against All Defendants

The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 thzough 137 of this Complaint

as if fully set fol'th herein.

No registration statement was tiled or in effect with the Comm ission pursuant to

the Securities Act with respect to the securities and transactions issued by Natural Diam onds,

Eagle, or Argyle Coin as described in this Complaint and no exem ption from registration existed

with respect to these securities and transactions.

Am an, beginning no later than M ay 2014 and continuing through present, Natural

Diamonds, beginning no later than M ay 2014 until at least Decem ber 20l 8, Eagle, beginning no

later than M arch 2015 until December 2018, Argyle Coin, begilming no later than October 2017

and continuing through present, H. Siegel, beginning no later than M ay 2014 until at least

December 20l 8, and J. Seigel, beginning no later than M ay 2014 until at least December 2018,

directly and indirectly'.

m ade use of means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate

comm erce or of the m ails to sell securities as described herein, through the use or medium

of a prospectus or otherwise;

carried securities or caused such securities, as described herein, to be carried

through the m ails or in interstate comm erce, by any means or instrum ents of transportation,

for the purpose of sale or delivery after sale; or

m ade use of means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate

comm erce or of the m ails to offer to sell or offer to buy through the use or m edium of a
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prospectus or othem ise, as described herein, without a registration statem ent having been

filed or being in effect with the Com mission as to such securities.

159. By reason of the foregoing., the Defendants violated, and, unless enjoined, are

reasonably likely to continue to violate, Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C.

jj 77e(a) and 77e(c).

RELIEF REOUESTED

W HEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court find that Defendants

comm itted the violations alleged and:

1.

Temporarv Restraininz Order And Preliminarv lniunction

lssue a Temporary Restraining (lrder and Preliminary lnjunction, restraining and

enjoining'. Defendants Aman and Argyle Coin, their ofticers, agents, servants, employees,

attorneys, and all persons in active concerl; or participation with them , and each of them , from

violating Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act,

and Sections 5(a) and (c) of the Securities Act.

I1.

Permpnent lniunction

lssue a Permanent lnjunction, enjoining all Defendants, their officers, agents, servants,

employees, attorneys, and all persons in active concert or participation with theln, and each of

them, from violating Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the

Exchange Act, and Sections 5(a) and (c) of the Securities Act.
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111.

Asset Freeze jlnd Sworn Accountinus

lssue an Order freezing the assets of Am an and Argyle Coin until further Order of the Court

and freezing assets of H. Seigel, H .S. M anagement, W inners Church, S. Shipm an, and W . Shipm an

up to the am ount of the ill-gotten gains each received until further Order of the Court, issuing a

limited asset freeze as to G-7 to include the Corporate Defendants' diamonds Am an consigned to

G-7 until further Order of the Court, and requiring Am an and Argyle Coin to file sworn

accountings with this Court.

lV.

Records Preservation

lssue an Order requiring all Defendants and Relief Defendants to preserve any records

related to the subject matter of this lawsuit that are in their custody or possession or subject to their

control.

V.

Disuoruem ent

lssue an Order directing a1l Defendants and Relief Defendants to disgorge all ill-gotten

gains received within the applicable statute of limitations, including prejudgment interest, resulting

from the acts or courses of conduct alleged in this Complaint.

Vl.

Penalties

lssue an Order directing all Defendants to pay civil money penalties pursuant to Section

20(d) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. j 77t(d), and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C.

j 78u(d).
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V1l.

Appointm ent of a Receiver

Appoint a receiver over Defendant Argyle Coin.

V1l.

Further Relief

Grant such other and further relief as may be necessary and appropriate.

lX.

Retention of Jurisdiction

Further, the Commission respectfull.y requests that the Court retain jurisdiction over this

action in order to im plem ent and carry out the terms of all orders and decrees that it may enter
, or

to entertain any suitable application or motion by the Comm ission for additional relief within the

jurisdiction of this Court.

DEM AND FOR JURY TRIAL

The Commission hereby demands ajury trial in this ease.

M ay 13, 2019 Respectfully submitted,

z'Z x

:.X  3
Am .lliggle Berlin, Esq.

Senior Trial Counsel
Florida Bar No. 630020

Direct Dial: (305) 982-6322
Direct email: berlina@sec.gov

Attorney for Plaintiff

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COM M ISSION

80l Brickell Avenue, Suite 1800

M iam i, Florida 33131

Telephone: (305) 982-6300
Facsinlile: (305) 536-41 54
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